RECEIVED

FEB 23 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
John D. McLeod, Administrative Law Judge
Case No.: 15-ALJ-22-0497-AP

Billie D. Mueller, Appellant

v.

South Carolina Department of Employment & Workforce, Respondent

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000037

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Billie D. Mueller
1341 Rockfish Drive
Manning, SC 29102
Telephone: 803-410-6935
E-mail address: dinkerboy49@gmail.com
Appellant has no Attorney

Trey McLeod
Office of General Counsel
SC Dept. of Employment and Workforce
PO Box 8597
Columbia, SC 29202
legal@dew.sc.gov
Attorney for Respondent SCDEW

1 **APPELLATE'S FINAL BRIEF**

2

3

4 **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

5 ***The Nature of the Proceeding and the Relief Sought***

6 This is a Petition for Review of a decision of the Administrative Law Court
7 affirming the decision of a Court of Appeals Judge decision denying unemployment
8 benefits to Appellate. Appellate requests that the decision be reversed.

9 ***The Nature of the Decision To Be Reviewed***

10 A final decision made and entered on January 4, 2016 by the Administrative Law
11 Court.

12 ***Statement of the Statutory Basis for Appellate Jurisdiction***

13 This court has appellate jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to S.C.
14 Code Ann. 41-35-750

15 ***Statement of Appellate Jurisdiction***

16 The Administrative Law Court entered its decision on January 4, 2016. The
17 Petition for Judicial Review was filed on January 6, 2016.

18 ***Questions Presented on Review***

- 19 A. Did the SCDEW Appellate Panel err in finding the
20 Appellant neglected to file her appeal in a timely manner?
21 (ARA – Pg.29 lines 8-17)
- 22 B. Did the SCDEW Appellate Panel err in finding that
23 Appellant received the decision in a timely manner?
24 (ARA – Pg.05 lines 18-19)
- 25

1 C. Did the Appellate Panel and Appeal Tribunal err in the decision on Severance
2 payments and bonus not being wages for which the Appellant paid all Federal,
3 State and FICA taxes?

4 (ARA – Pg.41 lines 24-26 & Pg.42 lines 1-7)

5 **Summary of Argument**

6 I checked my mail on May 13, 2015 and my mail did not contain a letter from
7 SCDEW. I was staying with a friend while undergoing several medical procedures. (ARA –
8 Pg.09 lines 15-18) Cancer and Foot surgery so at the time I could not drive. I was receiving the
9 radiation treatments in Sumter and had foot surgery in Florence. Went to check the mail again on
10 May 20, 2015 and the letter from SCDEW was obtained. The 10 day filing period had already
11 passed so I submitted my appeal as timely as possible. SCDEW has no certified proof that the
12 decision was mailed in a timely manner or that it was received in a timely manner. I am asking
13 the court to reconsider the decision of the Appellate Panel in this case. Again the SCDEW
14 mailed me their Brief postmarked Dec. 11, 2015 and it was not received in my mail box until
15 Dec. 22, 2015 which was 11 days later so how can they state that the Appellate Panel's decision
16 was received in a timely manner. (ARA – Pg.40 completely)

17 Also South Carolina is the only state that I have researched that does not extend the appeal time
18 for illness or incapacitation.

19 According to U.S. Supreme Court Certiorari To The United States Court Of
20 Appeals For The Sixth Circuit # 12-1408 (a) FICA defines “wages” broadly as “all
21 remuneration for employment.” §3121(a). As a matter of plain meaning, severance payments fit
22 this definition: They are a form of remuneration made only to employees in consideration for
23 employment. “Employment” is “any service . . . performed . . . by an employee” for an
24 employer. §3121(b). By varying according to a terminated employee’s function and seniority, the
25 severance payments at issue confirm the principle that “service” “mean[s] not only work actually

1 done but the entire employer employee relationship for which compensation is paid.” The
2 Severance constituted 26 weeks pay for 26 years of service to the employer. I am asking the
3 court to reconsider the decision of the Appellate Panel and the Appeal Tribunal in this case.

4 (ARA – Pg.47 48)

5
6
7 Dated this 21st day of February, 2017

8 Billie Mueller
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Exhibit B

Void <input type="checkbox"/>		Employee's social security number 527-76-0453		OMB No. 1545-0048 X4A		006115		000153	
b Employer identification number (EIN) 22-2455232				1 Wages, tips, other compensation 48327.85		2 Federal income tax withheld 6271.81			
c Employer's name, address, and ZIP code ESTRON INC 1663 HIGHWAY 701 S LORIS SC 29569				3 Social security wages 48327.85		4 Social security tax withheld 2996.33			
				5 Medicare wages and tips 48327.85		6 Medicare tax withheld 700.75			
				7 Social security tips		8 Allocated tips			
c Control number 000150 CHAR/X4A				9		10 Dependent care benefits			
e Employer's first name and initial BILLIE		Last name MUELLER		11 Nonqualified plans		12a See instructions for box 12 W 446.15			
f Employer's address and ZIP code POST OFFICE BOX 98 DAVIS STATION SC 29401				13 <input type="checkbox"/> Salaried employee <input type="checkbox"/> Part-time plan <input type="checkbox"/> Part-time job pay		12b			
				14 Other		12c			
						12d			
15 State Employer's state ID number SC 25319905 1		16 State wages, tips, etc. 48327.85		17 State income tax 3180.96		18 Local wages, tips, etc.		19 Local income tax	
								20 Locality name	

Form **W-2** Wage and Tax Statement
Copy D — For Employer

2014

Department of the Treasury - Internal Revenue Service
For Privacy Act and Paperwork Reduction Act Notice, see separate instructions.

Slip Opinions

OCTOBER TERM, 2013

1

Syllabus

NOTE: Where it is feasible, a syllabus (headnote) will be released as it is being done in connection with this case; at the time the opinion is issued. The syllabus constitutes no part of the opinion of the Court but has been prepared by the Reporter of Decisions for the convenience of the reader. See *United States v. Detroit Timber & Lumber Co.*, 200 U.S. 321, 337.

SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

Syllabus

UNITED STATES *v.* QUALITY STORES, INC., ET AL.

CERTIORARI TO THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE SIXTH CIRCUIT

No. 12-1408. Argued January 14, 2014—Decided March 25, 2014

Respondent Quality Stores, Inc. and its affiliates (collectively Quality Stores) made severance payments to employees who were involuntarily terminated as part of Quality Stores' Chapter 11 bankruptcy. Payments—which were made pursuant to plans that did not tie payments to the receipt of state unemployment insurance—varied based on job seniority and time served. Quality Stores paid and withheld, *inter alia*, taxes required under the Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA), 26 U.S.C. §3101 *et seq.* (later believing that the payments should not have been taxed as wages under FICA. Quality Stores sought a refund on behalf of itself and about 1,850 former employees. When the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) did not allow or deny the refund, Quality Stores initiated proceedings in the Bankruptcy Court, which granted summary judgment in its favor. The District Court and Sixth Circuit affirmed, concluding that severance payments are not wages under FICA.

Held: The severance payments at issue are taxable wages for FICA purposes. Pp. 4-15.

(a) FICA defines "wages" broadly as "all remuneration for employment." §3121(a). As a matter of plain meaning, severance payments fit this definition: They are a form of remuneration made only to employees in consideration for employment. "Employment" is "any service . . . performed . . . by an employee" for an employer. §3121(b). By varying according to a terminated employee's function and seniority, the severance payments at issue confirm the principle that "service" "mean[s] not only work actually done but the entire employer-employee relationship for which compensation is paid." *Social Security Bd. v. Nieracko*, 327 U.S. 358, 365-366. This broad definition is reinforced by the specificity of FICA's lengthy list of exemptions. The

Syllabus

exemption for severance payments made "because of . . . retirement for disability," §3121(a)(13)(A), would be unnecessary were severance payments generally not considered wages. FICA's statutory history sheds further light on the definition. FICA originally contained definitions of "wages" and "employment" identical in substance to the current ones, but in 1939, Congress excepted from "wages" "[d]ismissal payments" not legally required by the employer. 53 Stat. 1384. Since that exception was repealed in 1950, FICA has contained no general exception for severance payments. Pp. 4-7.

(b) The Internal Revenue Code chapter governing income-tax withholding does not limit the meaning of "wages" for FICA purposes. Like FICA's definitional section, §3401(a) has a broad definition of "wages" and contains a series of specific exemptions. Section §402(o) instructs that "supplemental unemployment compensation benefits" or SUBs, which include severance payments, be treated "as if" they were wages. Contrary to Quality Stores' reading, this "as if" instruction does not mean that severance payments fall outside the definition of "wages" for income-tax withholding purposes and, in turn, are not covered by FICA's definition. Nor can Quality Stores rely on §3402(o)'s heading, which refers to "certain payments other than wages." To the extent statutory headings are useful in resolving ambiguity, see *FTC v. Mandel Brothers, Inc.*, 359 U. S. 385, 388-389, §3402(o)'s heading falls short of declaring that all the payments listed in §3402(o) are "other than wages." Instead, §3402(o) must be understood in terms of the regulatory background against which it was enacted. In the 1950's and 1960's, because some States provided unemployment benefits only to terminated employees not earning wages, IRS Rulings took the position that severance payments tied to the receipt of state benefits were not wages. To address the problem that severance payments were still considered taxable income, which could lead to large year-end tax liability for terminated workers, Congress enacted §3402(o), which treats both SUBs and severance payments the IRS considered wages "as if" they were wages subject to withholding. By extending this treatment to all SUBs, Congress avoided the practical problems that might arise if the IRS later determined that SUBs besides severance payments linked to state benefits should be exempt from withholding. Considering this regulatory background, the assumption that Congress meant to exclude all SUBs from the definition of "wages" is unsustainable. That §3402(o) does not narrow FICA's "wages" definition is also consistent with the major principle of *Powen Cos. v. United States*, 452 U. S. 247: that simplicity of administration and consistency of statutory interpretation instruct that the meaning of "wages" should be in general the same for income-tax withholding and for FICA calculations. Pp. 7-

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25