**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM THE
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
John D. McLeod, Administrative Law Judge
Case No.: 15-ALJ-22-0497-AP

Appellate Case No. 2016-000037

RECEIVED

APR 27 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Billie D. Mueller,

v.

South Carolina Department of Employment
and Workforce,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

E.B. "Trey" McLeod, III (SC Bar # 73642)
Assistant General Counsel
S.C. Dept. of Employment & Workforce
Post Office Box 8597
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 737-2666
legal@dew.sc.gov
Attorney for Respondent

Appellant (*Pro Se*):

Billie D. Mueller
1341 Rockfish Drive
Manning, SC 29102
(803) 410-6935
Dinkerboy49@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Billie D. Mueller (Appellant) filed a claim with Respondent, the South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce (DEW or Department) for unemployment insurance (UI) benefits. On April 2, 2015, the Department initially found that Appellant did not meet the eligibility requirements of the law pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-50¹ and therefore ineligible to receive UI benefits (ALC R. p. 5.).

Appellant appealed the initial determination to the Appeal Tribunal (Tribunal) pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-660. The Tribunal conducted an evidentiary hearing in which Appellant participated. The resulting decision, mailed to the Appellant's address of record on May 7, 2015, affirmed the initial determination. Id.

Thereafter, Appellant filed a letter of appeal from the Tribunal decision with the Department's Appellate Panel (Panel) received on May 29, 2015. (ALC R. p. 6.).

In a letter dated June 1, 2015, the Panel remanded the case to the Tribunal for the sole purpose of receiving testimony regarding the timeliness of Appellant's letter of appeal. (ALC R. p. 7.) The matter was then returned to the Panel to make a decision on the record developed. (ALC R. p. 7.) On June 18, 2015, the Tribunal held a telephone hearing for this purpose. (ALC R. pp. 9-14.) On July 7, 2015, the Panel issued the final agency decision that dismissed Appellant's appeal as untimely filed. (ALC R. pp. 1-2.)

On July 30, 2015, Appellant timely appealed the Panel's decision to the South Carolina Administrative Law Court. On January 4, 2016, the Honorable John D. McLeod issued an order

¹ This statute provides that no insured worker may receive benefits in a second benefit year unless, subsequent to the beginning of the first benefit year during which he received benefits, he performed work in the employ of a single employer in an amount equal to at least eight (8) times the weekly benefit amount established for the individual in the preceding benefit year.

affirming the Panel's decision. (ALC Order dated January 4, 2016). Thereafter, Appellant filed an appeal with this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The overriding issue in this case is whether Appellant's appeal to the Panel was properly dismissed as untimely. Appellant sought to appeal from a Tribunal decision which was mailed to her on May 7, 2015. The statutory time period for appealing from this decision expired on May 18, 2015, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-680. The Panel did not receive a letter of appeal in this matter until May 29, 2015. (ALC R. p. 6.) The Panel remanded the case to the Tribunal for a hearing on the timeliness issue. (ALC R. p. 7.).

During the hearing, Appellant testified that she did not know when the determination actually appeared in her mail box because she did not stay at that location all the time and she usually checked her mail every two weeks. (ALC R. p. 12.) Appellant further testified that she was uncertain whether her appeal had to be ten days from the date of mailing or ten days from the date of receipt. Id.

Based on the Record as a whole, the Panel held:

The Department properly mailed the Appeal Tribunal decision to [Appellant]'s address of record. The deadline to file an appeal was May 18, 2015. [Appellant] appealed on May 29, 2015, eleven (11) days after the appeal period expired. The Department has no authority to extend the appeal time limit unless the delay was caused by Department or Postal error, and we evidence of no such error. [Appellant] filed an untimely appeal due to her own error or neglect in failing to carefully read the appeal instructions, and by failing to act in a diligent manner to preserve her appeal rights. Knowing that a time-sensitive decision from the Department would be forthcoming, [Appellant] reasonably should have taken affirmative steps to check the mail more often than every fourteen (14) days. **The greater weight of evidence indicates that if [Appellant] had checked her mail on a regular basis, she would have received the decision earlier, and likely could have filed a timely appeal.** Therefore, the appeal is dismissed as untimely, and the Appeal Tribunal decision is final as a matter of law.

(ALC R. p. 2) (emphasis added).

The ALC found that substantial evidence in the record supported the Panel's decision. In affirming the Panel, the ALC found:

Here, the record is clear that the Tribunal decision was mailed on May 7, 2014 and that the last day to file an appeal was May 18, 2015. However, Appellant filed her appeal on May 29, 2014, which was eleven (11) days beyond the time allowed under Section 41-35-660. As a result, Appellant's appeal to the Panel was untimely. The Court finds that the Panel decision that Appellant appealed from is supported by the substantial evidence in the record.

(ALC Order dated January 4, 2016 p. 4.)

ARGUMENTS

Standard of Review

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B)

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the administrative law judge as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court of appeals may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or, it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Under the Administrative Procedures Act, this Court's review of an ALC decision "is limited to determining whether the findings were supported by substantial evidence or were controlled by an error of law." Hill v. S.C. Dep't of Health and Env'tl. Control, 389 S.C. 1, 9, 698 S.E.2d 612, 617 (2010).

I. APPELLANT FAILED TO FILE A SUFFICIENT BRIEF INCLUDING CITATION TO AUTHORITY ON THE ISSUE RULED ON BY THE PANEL.

On appeal, Appellant now presents only a single potentially relevant argument that the Panel erred by “finding that Appellant received the decision in a timely manner.” However, Appellant has abandoned her appeal by failing to file a proper brief.

Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR requires arguments on appeal to include citations to legal authority; see also Eaddy v. Smurfit-Stone Container Corp., 355 S.C. 154, 164, 584 S.E.2d 390, 396 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[S]hort, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not preserved for our review.”). An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority. Historic Charleston Holdings, L.L.C. v. Mallon, 365 S.C. 524, 533 n. 7, 617 S.E.2d 388, 393 n. 7 (Ct. App. 2005); Bryson v. Bryson, 378 S.C. 502, 662 S.E.2d 611 (Ct. App. 2008).

Appellant’s Brief recites her view of the facts without any supporting authority and fails to isolate any issues that this Court may address within its standard of review.

II. ARGUENDO, THE DEPARTMENT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT APPELLANT’S APPEAL WAS UNTIMELY FILED.

In arguendo, S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-680 states that the Tribunal’s decision will become the Department’s final decision “unless **within ten days after the date of mailing the decision** a further appeal is initiated pursuant to Section 41-35-710.” (Emphasis added). It is uncontested that the Tribunal decision was mailed to Appellant’s address of record on May 7, 2015. Neither does Appellant dispute that the decision was delivered to her address of record within the statutory time period for timely filing. See Lindsey v. S. Carolina Tax Comm’n, 323 S.C. 57, 60, 448 S.E.2d 577, 578 (Ct. App. 1994)(Where there was no contention that the document was not

properly addressed or contained insufficient postage, the uncontroverted evidence shows the notice was deposited in the mail on the date alleged.)

While the Department is sympathetic to Appellant's medical issues, the language of S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-680 is explicit. A party's appeal must be within ten (10) days of the mailing of the Tribunal decision and no language allows discretion to the Panel to consider mitigating circumstances. The Panel's authority is strictly confined to the limits set by the statutory provisions that give them their existence and any actions that exceed their jurisdiction are void. S.C. Tax Comm'n v. S.C. Tax Bd. of Review, 278 S.C. 556, 299 S.E.2d 489 (1983). Since no authority exists to consider mitigating circumstances, the Panel properly declined to consider the matter. Mears v. Mears, 287 S.C. 168, 337 S.E.2d 206 (1985)(A failure to satisfy the time limits of jurisdiction is fatal since an untimely appeal prohibits the Panel from deciding the matter.).

Considering the Record and the controlling statute, the Panel concluded:

[Appellant] filed an untimely appeal due to her own error or neglect in failing to carefully read the appeal instructions, and by failing to act in a diligent manner to preserve her appeal rights. Knowing that a time-sensitive decision from the Department would be forthcoming, [Appellant] reasonably should have taken affirmative steps to check the mail more often than every fourteen (14) days. The greater weight of evidence indicates that if [Appellant] had checked her mail on a regular basis, she would have received the decision earlier, and likely could have filed a timely appeal. Therefore, the appeal is dismissed as untimely, and the Appeal Tribunal decision is final as a matter of law.

(ALC R. p. 2.) Here, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the Panel's decision that Appellant's appeal was untimely.